DRAFT TILLEY
CONSERVATION AREA
APPRAISAL

; mmmTilley Timber |DR Heritage
§ ! t.-"‘l‘ S hrOpShl re PrOJect Historic environmen t researc h

C ounci l é “;"l:em‘h;.ational Lottery m and consu ltancy
hugh the Hictage Lotery Fn Shery und

Draft for
submission to
Shropshire
Council:
August 2018

Prepared by TDR Heritage
Ltd on behalf of the Tilley
Timber Project



Contents

L INErOCUCTION ...ttt et s e st e e be e e s bt e e bt e e sate e sabe e e sabeesabeeeaneeesaneeesanes 2
EXECULIVE SUMIMIAIY 1ttt e e ettt et e e e s e bbb ee e e e s s e anbbeeeeeeesssnsnsaaeeeeeessanrnnes 2
Background t0 the apPraiSal.......cuuei i 2
The planning POHCY CONTEXL .....coiiiiie e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eaba e e e enbeeeeennbeeeeennrenas 2
A summary of the special interest 0f the area .........cceeeivciiii e 3

2: Assessment of the Special Interest of the Conservation Area ..............ccocoveeiiiiee e, 3
oY or=YuToT oI [0 o IY=1 4 T o= PSPPI 3
HiStOriC dEVEIOPMENT.....iiiiiiee e e e st e e e s be e e e s abe e e s ssbeeesenbeeessnnrenas 4
Archaeological Significance and Potential........cc.eeiivciiiiiiiiiiieccee e 6
oY 0 T= e I =Y/ 1 R 7
Architectural Quality and BUilt FOMM ....oooeiiii et e e e 10

Prevailing Materials and LOCal DEtails .......ccccuuiiiiiiiiieiiieec ettt e e e e s 10
Other characteristic fEATUIMNES .....coiuiiiiie et sttt e s bee e sbee e 10
Buildings Contributing to the Character and Appearance of the Conservation Area................... 10
Potential for future deSigNatioNns.......ccccuiii e e e e e re e e e e ate e e s enreeas 19
Contribution of Green Space and Natural EI@MENTS .........ooeevciiiiieiiiieeeciee e 19
OVEIAIl CNATACEET ..euteetieeite ettt b e sttt et et e s bt e s aeesae e st e s bt e bt e bt e sbeesneesaeeennean 20

3. Sensitivity and Capacity for CRange .............coooiiiiiiiii e e 20
Conservation Value Of the Ara ...t s 20
AsSeSSMENT OF CONAITION ...eeeiiiiiieiietie ettt s s st 20
(0] o] o YoYU Ta V1 T=I=Y oo B N o T | 3 U ST 21

4. Conservation Area Management PIaNn...............occiiiii ittt et e e e rae e e e eanes 25
Tools for future management of the CoNServation Area ........ccccceeeeeeveeeeeciiee e eeeeee e e 25
A. Principles for Future Management of the Conservation Area .........cccecveeeeicieeeescieeeeccieee e, 25
B. Planning Policies for future management of the Conservation Area........cceceeevvieenieeiniecssieeenne. 26
C. PIanNning MEASUIES.......uueeeicieeeeiciieeeciieeeeeeieee s esteee e e sree e e s snseeesenanees Error! Bookmark not defined.
DL o YA Yol o o F- Nt 27

5. References & SoUrces CONSUILEM ...............ooiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt s 28

oI YT o T=T s Lo ol .U 30
A:The CONSEIVATION ANBQ ...oueiiiieiieriie ettt et b e e s b e s bt e saeesanesaneereenes 30
B: SUPPOIrting Maps aNd IMAZES ....eeeiciieeeiiiieee ettt e eetee e et e e e e stre e e s stee e s s sbeee s esabaeesesabaeesennraeeeesnsenas 31



Tilley Conservation Area Appraisal

1. Introduction

Executive summary

Background to the appraisal

This draft Conservation Area Character Appraisal has been produced to enable Shropshire Council to
undertake a public consultation on the designation of Tilley as a Conservation Area under the 1990
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act).

The appraisal of the Tilley Conservation Area follows work undertaken by the Tilley Timber Project as
part of an HLF-funded project between 2014 and 2017 which drew attention to the significance of
the settlement and its built heritage. During this project a survey was undertaken by local residents
to assess Tilley’s character and highlighted community support for developing a better
understanding of the character and significance of the hamlet to help deliver positive, sensitive
future management. The Heritage Lottery Fund subsequently funded the preparation of this
Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan for wider public consultation.

The document is an assessment of the character and appearance of the hamlet of Tilley and its
immediate setting. It sets out the historical development of the area and identifies and records the
elements which contribute to the special interest of the area. It also reviews the existing condition of
the area and sets out some principles and actions for its future management and provides material
information for decision-makers regarding future development.

Conservation area appraisals are based upon best practice guidelines set out by Historic England in
their publication Advice Note 1: Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management (Feb
2016).

The planning policy context

Section 69 of the 1990 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act requires Local
Planning Authorities to determine which parts of their area are ‘areas of special architectural or
historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance’.
Having designated the Conservation Area, the Local Authority has a statutory duty to ensure that
those elements that form its particular character or appearance should be preserved or enhanced,
especially when considering planning applications. It is therefore necessary to define and analyse
those qualities or elements that contribute to, or detract from, the special interest of the area and to
assess how they combine to justify its designation as a Conservation Area.

The Appraisal takes the form of written text and an Appraisal map. In both respects every effort has
been made to include or analyse those elements key to the special character of the area. Where
buildings, structures or features have not been specifically highlighted it does not necessarily follow
that they are of no visual or historic value to the Conservation Area. This document is intended to be
an overall framework and guide within which decisions can be made on a site-specific basis.



The proposed Tilley Conservation Area covers an area of XXXX hectares (XXXX acres). The proposed
boundaries of the Conservation Area are shown by the solid green line indicated on the Map
(Appendix A) and comprises all of the dwellings in the hamlet. For the most part the boundaries run
along existing fences, watercourses, walls or other property boundaries.

A summary of the special interest of the area

Tilley is a small hamlet which is thought to date from at least the early 14" century, but which saw
extensive building or rebuilding in the late 16th and 17th centuries. The settlement was included in
an estate map of 1631 which shows that the medieval layout of the settlement has largely survived
intact, as have a high proportion of the buildings known to have existed at this time.

The special interest of the settlement is related to the survival and adaptation of these buildings, as
well as its relationship with agriculture and the landscape around it. Many of the buildings and
features in the hamlet demonstrate strong associations between the farmsteads and their ‘croft’
enclosures, the use of local materials for building, as well as the visible display of later alterations
and adaptation of buildings according to the fashions of the time, or in response to agricultural
change. The settlement’s proximity to the River Roden and Sleap Brook, and being sited on low-lying
ground, means that the settlement also has significant interest in terms of how it has developed its
responses to water and flood management, both in terms of a threat and an opportunity.

2: Assessment of the Special Interest of the Conservation Area
Location and Setting

Tilley is a small settlement in the Civil Parish of Wem Rural, lying two miles south of the town of
Wem in the North Shropshire countryside. The hamlet is situated on an area of slightly higher
ground within the low-lying marshland formed in the broad river valley at the confluence of the
River Roden and Sleap Brook. These two watercourses form a natural boundary to the west and
north of the hamlet and help define its immediate setting, which incorporates an extensive
floodplain formed between the River Roden and the settlements of Tilley and Wem.

The linear settlement of Tilley lies along both sides of a single road, known as Main Street which,
prior to the construction of the Crewe and Shrewsbury railway line in 1858, originally joined Tilley to
the main Shrewsbury— Wem road (B5476) and the hamlet of Tilley Green. The buildings are set
within good-sized plots, with clearly defined boundaries to the sides and rear and are generally
separated from the road by a grass verge and front boundary wall, much of which is in local red
sandstone.

The road passes north west — south east through the hamlet and is joined by Tilley Road from Wem,
which now forms the principle access to the hamlet. Approaching the hamlet from this direction, the
entrance to the hamlet is framed by a parcel of pastureland to either side of the road. This, in
combination with extensive views out of the hamlet over the semi-wooded floodplain and of open
countryside behind properties to the west, gives a strong rural character to the hamlet and serves to
form an additional buffer between the outskirts of Wem and the edge of the hamlet.

The railway line forms a distinct boundary to the south eastern end of Tilley and the western extent
of the hamlet is defined by the Tilley Bridge, which carries the main road out of the hamlet over the
Sleap Brook.



Historic development

The archaeological record provides relatively little evidence for early settlement within Tilley,
although a Neolithic flint knife was found close to the hamlet at Springfields on the Shrewsbury Road
(formerly known as Tilley Villa) and it is thought that the remains of Roman marching camp, which
until the 20th century survived as earthworks, may be located to the south of the hamlet at Trench
Farm, Tilley Green.

The first known reference to a settlement at Tilley dates to the medieval period when Tyleweleye is
mentioned in subsidy rolls of 1327. The name is thought to derive from the Old English word tillow
or tallow, meaning branch or bough, and could be a topographical reference to the hamlet’s
proximity to the River Roden and the Sleap Brook. Prior to this, it is thought that lands at Tilley may
have formed part of the ‘Manor of Wem’ described in the Domesday Survey of 1086 as being held
(in Saxon times) as four manors.

Dendrochronological analysis of numerous buildings in the hamlet has identified in situ or reused
timbers of mid-15th century date (in Ferndale Barn and No.15 Tilley) which confirm the presence of
a relatively early settlement at Tilley. This is reinforced by features in the surrounding area - the
boundaries of a former ‘common field’ to the west of the hamlet, a relic of the three large fields that
were part of Tilley’s medieval farming system, can still be accessed from a former lane from the
Tilley Road and remain visible in the landscape. Slightly beyond this are veteran trees and hedgerows
which delignate the remains of the former medieval deer park at Tilley Park and which could have
been the ‘haye’ — a hedged enclosure that held game or pigs - mentioned in the Domesday Survey in
the 11th century.

By the early 16th century, lay subsidy returns show that the hamlet had become a relatively
prosperous settlement and included four ‘yeoman farmers’, freeholders who farmed a small estate
of their own land, three of which have been identified as Tilley Farm, Tilley Manor and Tilley Hall.
Much of the remaining surrounding land lay in the hands of the Earl of Arundel. However, in the
mid-16th to early 17th centuries Tilley underwent a significant programme of rebuilding, especially
between 1561 and 1580 and 1616 and 1618. Research has shown that the oak used for building was
generally sourced locally and it has been suggested that it may have come from the extensive
woodland that formed part of the medieval deer park at nearby Tilley Park.

These periods of rebuilding correspond with an extensive programme of construction activity which
occurred across England between 1550 and 1660 as, with the exception of extremely high-status
buildings like churches and nobleman’s’ lodgings, earlier buildings had generally been constructed of
inferior timber. During this period many earlier buildings were extensively or completely rebuilt,
often in oak, and reusing materials such as timber or stone where available.

The external appearance of the timber-framed buildings of Tilley contribute to the emerging picture
of the historic development of the settlement and its occupants in this period. In line with the
timber-framing traditions of Western England and the Welsh Marches, all of the surviving timber
framed buildings are constructed with square panelled wall frames. However, those of the highest
status - and occupied by the Yeoman farmers - also incorporate additional ‘fancy’ timberwork to
demonstrate that the owner could afford to use additional permanent and long-lived materials for
decorative effect. As datable features in their own right, the framing used in Tilley followed the
fashions of the day that were displayed in grand houses, such as Pitchford Hall in Shropshire, and



include elements such as close studding and herringbone work as well as the quatrefoils and
lozenges that became popular in in the second half of the 16th century.

However early 17th century investment in the area was not limited to the rebuilding of properties in
the hamlet. The low-lying and marshy nature of the land, especially in the area north of the
settlement known as Tilley Pools, impacted on the potential use and value of the land, and from the
mid-16th century, the Earl of Arundel made a substantial investment in the improvement of the
fields surrounding Tilley. This included the installation of a complex drainage system designed by
Dutch engineers, and the straightening of the nearby River Roden in order to make it navigable,
taking out substantial meanders in the area that now forms part of the floodplain. Some of the
remains of these water management systems have been mapped through recent work, which has
found evidence for a series of at least five former stone culverts/bridges, and 20th century drainage
operations in the area revealed examples of early drainage ‘pipes’ formed from hollowed out logs.
Clearly an asset of importance to the hamlet, the River also supported eel fishing and close to the
site of the Tilley Bridge a narrow, man-made diversion, marked on the 1845 tithe map as ‘Weir Croft’
created an eel trap which remained in situ until work in the 1970s re-formed the river to follow a
more natural line.

An estate map commissioned for the Earl of Arundel in 1631 provides some detail for the layout and
composition of Tilley at this time. Then, as now, Tilley formed a small linear settlement, starting at
an area of ‘waste’ land with a bridge over the Sleap Brook at the north of the hamlet and extending
to a building that was located slightly to the south of the 19th century railway line. Along the Main
Street are shown nine distinct domestic buildings of varying sizes, each of which apparently drawn
‘from life’, with different numbers of windows and chimneys reflecting the status of each building —
important in a period in which taxes were gathered according to the number of hearths and
windows a building possessed. The map is notable in that it does not provide any illustrations of
unheated buildings, animal or grain houses and recent survey work, which has identified the remains
of a former open hall house at the south of the hamlet that was definitely in situ in the early 16th
century, seems to support the idea that the map was limited to domestic housing, perhaps for the
purposes of taxation and land ownership.

Many of the properties shown on the 1631 map are shown as being situated in enclosed fields or
‘crofts’, which were used for tillage or pasture, and were typically worked by the occupier. The
boundaries of many of these enclosures have become fossilised through the centuries and are still
visible in the hamlet. They are unusual in that they are formed by a raised bank and ditch which
effectively provide an element of drainage and highlight the issues faced by settlers in this low-lying
marshy landscape. The use of the plots is reinforced by information from the 1845 tithe map and
award which identifies numerous field names that are largely related to meadowland and ‘crofts’.

In the late 18th century, the road systems in the vicinity of the hamlet saw considerable
development as two new straight sections of turnpiked road, including the B5476 road from Wem to
Harmer Hill - a short distance south of the hamlet, opened in 1774 and soon became the new road
to Shrewsbury. Whilst these were now paid for by tolls from road users, the smaller roads which
linked the hamlet into this new infrastructure remained the concern of the parish and in the early
19th century, Parish records show that repairs and widening work were undertaken at the
sandstone bridge over the Sleap Brook. The old bridge across the Brook remained in active use until
1972, although it was significantly altered in the late 1960s when a new drainage scheme designed



to improve the speed of passing water inserted a large concrete pipe through the structure. Despite

these alterations, the bridge was replaced in 1972 with a concrete bridge around 20 metres south of
the original bridge, and at the same time road works were undertaken that straightened the original

sharp bend on the approach to the hamlet. Some elements of the medieval bridge remain in situ and
other elements have been incorporated into garden walling around the hamlet.

Of more fundamental impact on the hamlet was the passing of the 1853 Railway Act which allowed
the London and North Western Railway Company to build a railway line from Shrewsbury to Crewe,
the route of which passed through the southern end of the hamlet and, in addition to the demolition
of a substantial timber framed building shown on the estate map of 1631, formed a physical
boundary to the hamlet and a barrier to accessing the Shrewsbury Road just north of Tilley Green.
Whilst a level crossing, signal box and permanently manned keeper’s cottage were constructed to
allow the free movement of cattle across the railway at all times, the neighbouring settlements of
Tilley Green and Trench became increasingly remote and cut off. The signal box and ‘derelict’
keepers cottage, which stood immediately east of the crossing, were demolished in the early 1970s
following an accident on the level crossing, and the status of the crossing was subsequently reduced.
Track repairs in 2001 did not reinstate the crossing and it now only allows pedestrian access.

From earliest times until the second half of the 20th century, the occupants of Tilley appear to have
been largely engaged in agriculture. A farm survey of the hamlet undertaken in 1947 identified that,
of the combined population of approximately one hundred people living in Tilley and Ruewood, 92%
were involved with farming and at this time there were four farms in the hamlet - Brook Farm and
the three that are known to have been in existence in the early 16th century - Tilley Farm, Tilley Hall
and Tilley Manor.

Archaeological Significance and Potential

The Tilley Timber Project (2014-17) showed Tilley to be of considerable archaeological significance
for the information retained in the historic timbers of the buildings of the hamlet, alongside the
ability to relate these assets to historic mapping of 1631. This work has identified 85% of the historic
buildings shown on the 1631 map to have survived into the 21st century, albeit with some
adaptation to each building. Given the focus of the map on domestic properties, it is possible that
there were additional, agricultural or unheated buildings within the hamlet which have yet to be
located. In addition, the project established an unusually rich and documented understanding of the
more ephemeral aspects of traditional building construction through a study of carpenters’ marks,
‘witch marks’, and flame marks on timbers, and the traces left by the processes of ‘conversion’ from
trees into finished building materials. The fossilisation of the croft boundaries in the form of banks
and ditches is also of archaeological interest — these are indicative of the early settlers living and
working in an area of marshy ground with a high-water table and could mean that there is good
preservation of organic archaeological remains in the area.

Magnetometry and resistivity surveys undertaken in every garden in the hamlet, and in the vicinity
of the modern settlement of Tilley, have established that there is some potential for the survival of
archaeological remains relating to earlier settlement in the hamlet and its immediate environs.
These include the probable foundations of a building on the south side of the railway line, which are
thought to be of a timber-framed house known to have been demolished in the 1850s prior to the
construction of the railway; the location of the railway Keepers’ Cottage; and a cluster of buildings
shown standing on the periphery of the medieval deer park at Tilley Park in 1631. It is not currently
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known whether the railway line marks the ‘real’ southern extent of the earlier settlement, although
limited survey in this area has not provided any evidence for additional buildings in its immediate
vicinity,

The extensive floodplain to the east of the hamlet, which forms a boundary between the
settlements of Tilley and Wem, was the subject of drainage work in the mid-16th to early 17th
century and is known to contain physical structures and organic remains which could provide
important archaeological evidence for the development of water management systems in this
period. Previous work to the river has also revealed elements of other active human engagement
with the river, including an eel trap and weir on the Sleap Brook just outside the hamlet. Although
this is thought to have been destroyed during works, the area around it uncovered fragments of eel
spears in the vicinity of the structure. In addition, the Ordnance Survey map of 1881 shows a small
structure close to the Tilley Bridge, which may have had a function related to the bridge, for the
example, the collection of a toll, or the oversight of systems dealing with the management of water
flow in the river.

Field names recorded on the 1847 tithe map and award also indicate that there was a windmill
located in a meander of the River Roden, to the north of Tilley and on the modern floodplain,
although the site is not visible above ground.

Form and Layout

Tilley is a good example of a small Shropshire settlement comprising a variety of timber-framed and
brick buildings, the oldest of which contains timbers dating from the 15th century, with a noticeably
vigorous period of (re)construction in the late 16th and early 17th century. The hamlet saw some
change in the 19th century, not least through the construction of the railway line which severed
Tilley’s link to the main Shrewsbury to Wem road and impacted on future expansion of the
settlement, but also through the development or adaption of several buildings in brick.

Despite considerable adaptation and alteration of some individual buildings over time and some
later 20th and 21st century additions, the overall form of Tilley has changed very little from its early
17th century layout and has retained its overall character as a small, linear settlement running North
West — South East along a single, principal road.

The older buildings generally follow a similar alignment and are set back from the main road behind
a short grass verge and boundary wall, often of large coursed sandstone blocks, and a small front
garden. The buildings on the eastern side of the road, which appear to have involved more
substantial rebuilding in the 18th or 19th centuries, tend to be located much closer to the roadside
behind a narrow strip that separates the house from the carriageway. To the rear many properties
have retained the fossilised remains of earlier plot divisions, or ‘crofts’, in the form of a small bank
and ditch, which correspond with those shown on the estate map of 1631 and the tithe map of
1845.

The modern hamlet is largely surrounded by open, farmed land which includes traces of earlier
medieval farming practices, including an open field system and former deer park. The core of the
settlement contains four main farmsteads, two of which are still in active use, although other
buildings in the hamlet have formerly been strongly associated with agriculture. The farmhouses are
generally set back from the road, with their agricultural buildings arranged to the rear around a
courtyard, however some later ancillary buildings of brick have been constructed at the side of the



road, allowing access directly from the carriageway. Whilst some of the larger former farm buildings
have now been converted to residential housing, they have generally retained their overall
agricultural look and feel.

The watercourses and low-lying nature of the land at Tilley have had a strong influence on the extent
of the settlement and how it developed: although of modern date, Tilley Bridge has been a key
crossing point for centuries and forms a visible and physical northern extent to the settlement. A
series of culverts and ditches, forming part of an area of floodplain which has been retained as green
space between the hamlet of Tilley and town of Wem, dates in part from the 17th century and is
characteristic of the water management systems put in place by settlers of low lying, marshy areas
to manage their surroundings.
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Architectural Quality and Built Form

Prevailing Materials and Local Details

A range of materials have been used in the buildings of the hamlet. The most visually dominant
architectural style is of ‘black and white’ timber-framed buildings in the North Western/Welsh
Marches tradition of the mid-16™ century to early 17™ period. These buildings are characterised by
‘square frame’ framing, using oak thought to have been felled in the local area. Those of the highest
status have been enhanced with very visible, close studded, herringbone or quatrefoil timberwork
that strongly emulates constructional fashion in the great houses of the period, such as Speke Hall in
Cheshire and Pitchford Hall in Shropshire. Some of these buildings show evidence for their external
timbers having been given a ‘facelift’ through the use of scored and black painted plaster to even out
the underlying surfaces.

Red brick buildings also feature strongly in the hamlet, both as domestic and agricultural buildings.
These are predominantly of 18™ and 19" century date, although many do conceal earlier fabric that
shows that they were rebuilt or substantially altered at this time. Some of the domestic buildings
have been subsequently rendered or painted, probably in the 20™" century.

The historic buildings are generally of two storeys, although there are some examples of one and
half storey buildings which were adapted to allow residential use in the upper floor by the insertion
of dormer windows.

Many of the older buildings have a front boundary wall of dressed red sandstone, a local material
likely to have been quarried at Grinshill, three kilometres away. These are often in the form of large
blocks, some of which display hewing marks, and examples of the stone can also be seen in the
remnants of early chimneys and the walling of some of the historic buildings.

Roofing materials contribute to the overall character of the area and are predominantly of red clay
tiles with brick chimneys, some of which incorporate the remains of earlier large local sandstone
stacks. There is some use of slate roofing materials, although these tend to feature on later buildings
or those which have been re-modelled in the 18" or 19™ century.

Other characteristic features

The road through Tilley has a distinctly ‘rural’ feel, forming a narrow main street with no street
lighting and virtually no road markings, except at the section which leads to the railway line. The
retention of the narrow grass verges in front of many of the property frontages means that there is
very limited paving in the hamlet, and that which does exist is limited to the northern, more
‘modern’ end of the settlement.

Buildings Contributing to the Character and Appearance of the Conservation Area

Listed and Locally Important Buildings

The National Heritage List for England (NHLE) currently includes seven principal buildings in the
hamlet of Tilley which have been nationally designated for their ‘special’ architectural and historic
interest. However recent research has identified that many of the buildings in the settlement have a
previously undiscovered history and many of these contribute to the character and appearance of
the settlement.
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Tilley Hall

Tilley Hall is an imposing farmstead which is located in the centre of the hamlet. The principal
building is timber framed with rendered wattle and daub panel infills. The building is set back from
the road by a small garden behind the remains of a large block sandstone wall which has been
altered using red brick beneath stone coping, although part of the taller original wall remains to the
north. Built in the manner of a medieval hall house, the building forms a central hall with a large
sandstone chimney to either end and two later cross wings with their prominent gabled ends facing
onto the road. The ‘hall’ building features close studded work and the gables, one of which includes
a large sandstone block sill, incorporate more elaborate timber frame motifs that were popular in
high status buildings in the second half of the 16th century, including quatrefoils and lozenges. A
date of 1613 is painted over the central front doorway, but recent work has dated roof timbers to
1504. Both the building and its stone and brick boundary wall are listed Grade II*, to reflect its status
as a particularly important building of ‘more than special interest’.

The building has a strong visual presence when viewed from the Main Street, although its impact is
lessened by three tall conifers which screen parts of the building’s frontage from certain view points,
and which could also be having a detrimental impact on the boundary wall and house.

Tilley Hall Barn Tilley Hall Cheese Room / Dairy

To the rear of the large plot is Tilley Hall Barn, an L-shaped six-bay structure that was originally
timber framed and which dendrochronology has tentatively dated as having a main phase of building
or reconstruction in c. 1616. The building is not visible from the street and has been much altered
over time, with numerous reused timbers and brick walls now replacing most of the wall frames,
however it has a strong agricultural feel which contributes to the overall rural character of the
hamlet, as does its location along the rear farmstead boundary.
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Forming part of the street frontage between Tilley Hall Farm and Tilley Manor is the former Tilley
Hall Cheese Room, which is a small single storey brick and tile building built in the early 20" century
to replace an earlier timber framed structure on the site. The building currently houses the village
notice board and community seating and incorporates workshop doors which open onto the road
behind a grass verge. Although substantially later than the its immediate neighbours, as well as
having key historic associations with the Tilley Hall farmstead, the scale and position of the building
adds a sense of enclosure to the streetscape and reinforces its rural character.

Tilley Manor is a grade |l listed farmhouse located in the centre of the hamlet and is one of the
yeoman farmsteads named in documents of the early 16" century. Its ostentatious timber-framing,
of square-panelled timber frames with brick infill and decorative herringbone and close-studded
work, visually date it to the late 16th to early 17th century. The building is arranged in a U-shape
comprising a central hall with two gabled crosswings projecting towards the street. Tree ring dating
has established that the current hall range dates from around 1568, and it was altered and
extended, possibly in two phases by the addition of two crosswings in the early to mid-17" century.
A gable dormer was added to the main hall building, along with a massive brick chimney, in c. 1616.

Tilley Manor

Farmstead complex at Tilley Manor Tilley Manor Barn

Tilley Manor Barn is part of an group comprising a single storey brick cow shed with a hay loft above
and a small attached brick building which houses the milk storage tank from the milking parlour and
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runs along the street frontage and the northern boundary of the Tilley Manor farmstead, being set
back from the road by a narrow verge. Although apparently of 19th century date, tree ring dating
from timbers in the roof structure and a single wall plate has established that the cowshed contains
early timbers dating from ¢.1504-34 and 1564-91, although these may have been reused in the later
construction. Despite the addition of a single storey breezeblock and asbestos-roofed lean-to to the
north, as an agricultural building characteristic of the later development of farmsteads, the building
provides a strong visual contribution to the story of the principal farms in the hamlet and how they
were adapted over time.

Brook Cottage

Brook Cottage

Dating to around 1617, Brook Cottage (18 Tilley) is a grade Il listed timber framed house built on a
rendered plinth with square panelled wall frames and rendered panel infills. It is known to have
been three cottages at some point in its recent history and has seen considerable adaptation,
including shortening of the facade by one ‘square’ of its wall frame. Although the building has been
uncharacteristically re-roofed in slate, it makes a strong contribution to the overall conservation
area and, like most older properties in the hamlet, was originally set back from the main road by a
small front garden behind a large sandstone block wall. The footings of the wall can be seen at the
front of the property boundary with more substantial areas of possibly reused walling that form a
boundary to the side of the garden and an open space used for parking.

Brook Farm (Brook House)

Brook Farm is a grade Il listed timber framed former farmhouse of square panelled walling in a style
characteristic of good quality, but lower status, buildings of the late 16" and 17" centuries. This has
been confirmed by tree ring dating which has estimated the year of construction as c. 1580. The
building is of 1 and a half storeys with dormer windows to the northern elevation within a red tiled
roof which features two chimneys that mark the extent of a narrow central bay.

The building faces onto the former yard formed by itself and Brook Barn (now Tilley Barn) with its
gable facing onto the road. The gable is set back only a short distance from the road, behind a
narrow verge and boundary wall of large sandstone blocks, some of which is hedged above, and
shows evidence for the roof to the southern elevation having been raised at some point in its
history.
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Brook Farmhouse Tilley Barn, formerly part of Brook Farm

The unlisted Tilley Barn is sited toward the rear of the former farmyard of Brook Farm and is of brick
with a slate roof. At the roadside, the plot has a boundary wall of large sandstone blocks, set back
from the road by a narrow verge; the stone of which is understood to have originated from the
demolition of the medieval bridge that spanned Sleap Brook. Although the barn is known to have
been rebuilt after a fire in 1923 and has since been converted to housing, it retains a strong visual
and locational relationship with the former farmhouse which helps reinforce the agricultural
character of the hamlet.

Oak Cottage, 12 & 13 Tilley
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Oak Cottage

Oak Cottage is a grade Il listed two storey timber framed building with painted brick and render infill,
a plain red tile roof and a rebuilt off-centre central brick chimney. The building has square framed
walling with close studded timberwork to the ground floor and herringbone decoration to the upper
storey, features which highlight the status of this building in the late 16th to early 17th century. Tree
ring dating has established that the building is likely to have been constructed c.1616, however the
northern bay has evidence for the remains of a jetty, a feature generally considered to be earlier,
and which has been underbuilt in brick. This may suggest that an earlier structure on the site was
altered and updated at a key point in Tilley’s history. In-keeping with the overall character of the
hamlet, the building is set back from the road by a small garden behind a narrow verge and low
sandstone boundary wall, although the wall is formed by small, rough coursed stones which suggest
that it was rebuilt in a later period.
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Tilley Farm

Tilley Farmhouse and barns

Located at the junction of the Tilley Road from Wem and the main street, and set back from the road
behind a short brick wall and grass verge, Tilley Farmhouse is a red brick, grade Il listed building of
the late 18th century, with later additions and alterations. The symmetrical frontage of the building

and its height, at two and a half storeys, are common features in a Georgian building of some status
but are distinctly different to the dominant character of the hamlet. As one of the buildings in the
hamlet known to have been occupied by a yeoman farmer by the early 16th century, Tilley Farm
contributes to the character of the hamlet by visibly showing how the wealthier properties in the
settlement continued to be adapted and changed over time. Large sandstone blocks, common to the
boundary walls and early buildings in Tilley, can been seen in an elevation visible from the road and
this, in addition to tree ring samples which date parts of the roof structure to between 1604 and
1619, provides evidence for an earlier core, or show that it was extensively rebuilt or refaced in the
18™ century to the fashion of the day.

To the rear of the house, ranged within a large plot, are a group of former agricultural buildings now
converted to housing which, although now in separate ownership, form a key component of the
former farmyard of Tilley Farm. The key buildings contributing to the former agricultural character of
the hamlet are Tilley Farm Barn, a linear brick and weatherboarded building set along the northern
boundary of the holding, which comprises a five-bay building of two storeys with brick gables with
stone coping and kneelers. Tree ring dating has established that the building was constructed in
€.1699 although it incorporates reused timbers, the earliest dating from 1500. At right angles to the
Barn and set back behind the main Farm house is The Hayracks, a converted weather boarded 4 bay
barn, which internal details suggest was originally of square frame walling (now lost) and its main
phase of construction dates to c. 1618.

Ferndale House

Ferndale House (listed as Tilley Lodge) is located at the southern end of the hamlet, in close
proximity to the railway line which cut through the settlement in 1858. The principal building
comprises a grade Il listed timber framed building of square wall panels of one and half storeys with
dormer windows and a plain tile roof. The location of the large stone chimney stack with later brick
additions immediately opposite the entrance suggests that the building was built as a baffle entry
house, a feature typical of buildings of the early 17 century. Although the building and its boundary
wall have undergone some alteration, it continues to contribute to, and reinforce, important
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characteristics of the older building in the settlement, including the use of materials and its position,

being set back from the road behind a boundary wall and small garden.

Ferndale House (Tilley Lodge) Ferndale Barn and Ferndale House

To the rear of the principal house and set at an angle is Ferndale Barn, a long single storey
agricultural building incorporating wide openings and metal framed windows, covered with a
corrugated iron roof. The barn has a strong relationship with Ferndale House and forms part of the
former farmyard. Although relatively unremarkable in its external appearance, tree ring dating has
established that this building contains locally felled, reused timbers from a cruck building that was
constructed in around 1458 and this adds an additional historical dimension to the building and the
contribution it makes to the history of Tilley.

The Tilley Raven Inn

Tilley Raven Inn

Thought to be no earlier than 1700, documentary evidence indicates that The Tilley Raven Inn was
originally a house and was occupied by 1717. The painted, red brick two storey building has a slate
roof, and faces onto the street frontage, from which it is set back by a narrow paved area. The
building was a domestic house until 1868 when it was converted into a public house and is located in
the centre of the hamlet. Its proximity to the roadside makes it very visible to travellers on the road
from Wem and a core component of the later development of the hamlet.
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15 Tilley

15 Tilley

As the location of the hamlet’s smithy from 1880, 15, Tilley is situated adjacent to the Raven Innin a
good-sized plot, with its gable end facing onto the street. Although now a two storey, pebble dashed
and painted building, tree ring analysis has identified parts of the structure as being of mid-15%"
century date and suggest that it may have been a former open hall house. The building was altered
in ¢.1590, which may have included raising of the red tiled roof and the insertion of a chimney.
Despite changes to the building, including new windows and doors, the scale and history of the
building still contribute to the overall character of the proposed conservation area.

11 & 13 Tilley

Located close to the road leading to the hamlet from Wem, 11 & 13 Tilley is a one and a half storey
brick and tile building with small gabled dormers to the first floor and a large central chimney. The
building corresponds with a small property shown on the 1631 map and tree ring dating has
established that the central bay (Yew Tree Cottage, 11 Tilley) incorporates timbers which suggest
that the building was originally constructed in c.1561 with some alteration or reconstruction,
potentially at the same time as it was encased in brick, in c1771.

13-15 Tilley

The building is set back only a short distance from the road by a narrow wall which may have
replaced an earlier verge and, although the building has undergone some alteration including new
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windows and doors and extensions to the north and rear, the scale of the building and its historic
associations retain a sense of its overall historic character and continue to make a positive
contribution to the conservation area.

2-6 Tilley

2-6 Tilley

2- 6 Tilley is a short terrace of four unlisted brick properties with slate roofs formed by a central
painted section set back from the road behind a large red sandstone block wall and short paved
garden, with two gable wings built end on to the road. Although apparently of 19*" century date, and
believed to have been estate cottages for the Tilley estate constructed c. 1830-1850, survey work in
No.3 (the central range) identified the smoke blackened remains of a possible open hall cruck
building of at least two bays of c. 1501-4. The building does not feature on the map of Tilley in 1631
and it has been speculated that this is because the early building had been adapted into a non-
domestic, farm building by this time.

1 Tilley

1, Tilley roadside gable and front elevation

At the southern extent of the hamlet, and immediately behind the gable of No.2, 1, Tilley is a
detached building of sandstone and brick beneath a red tiled roof, with its gable end facing onto the
road behind a short verge. The origins and development of the building are unknown but it is
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distinctive in that it incorporates a large number of large red sandstone blocks in its rear and gable
wall, a key characteristic of some of the oldest properties and the boundary walls. A boundary wall
of these same masonry blocks abuts the building and continues along the street frontage as a
boundary wall beneath a holly hedge.

Potential for future designations

The work undertaken by the Tilley Timber Project has provided substantial evidence for the early
origins of a number of previously overlooked, historic buildings in the hamlet. Of these, 2-6, 11 & 13
and 15 Tilley were much altered externally in the 19th century, and have undergone some change
more recently, but largely retain their overall historic character. 1 Tilley also appears to be of historic
construction and, although it has not been the subject of any investigative survey so far, has strong
potential for an earlier core. These buildings currently warrant an entry on the historic environment
record to highlight their historic value and significance and could justify inclusion upon a register of
local heritage assets.

Further investigations would help reveal the extent of survival of earlier internal fabric and should
additionally review the potential of 1 Tilley for earlier structural remains. This may show that those
retaining significant physical remains merit a review for national designation.

Contribution of Green Space and Natural Elements

Tilley has a strong rural character which is reinforced by natural elements and open spaces both
within the hamlet and its immediate setting. The approach to Tilley from Wem is formed by a
hedged single carriageway which encloses pasture fields to either side of the road that provide a
clear demarcation between the two settlements and their different characters. Leaving the hamlet
by road in the direction of the Tilley bridge, Tilley’s rural setting is further highlighted by fields and
hedgerows which include mature sycamore and cherry trees close to the road and which provide an
additional sense of enclosure and tranquillity.

To the rear of properties and the outer extent of the settlement are hedged fields enclosing an open
pastoral and arable landscape, which include natural elements with historical connections to the
hamlet through their use as former common fields or floodplain. Visible from the upper windows to
the rear of properties on the western side of the main road are veteran trees which form part of the
remains of the medieval deer park, from where much of the timber used in the hamlet is thought to
have been sourced.

Within the hamlet, green verges tend to take the place of pavements or footways, and have been
used as a means of setting many of the buildings back from the immediate roadside. Domestic front
gardens set behind a boundary wall are a characteristic of some older properties in the hamlet,
particularly on the western side of the road, and throughout the settlement a number of properties
with large sandstone boundary walls incorporate hedging, of species including holly, as additional
natural screening which provide a heightened sense of enclosure.

Gardens in Tilley are generally of a good size and in the centre of the hamlet contain a mix of
deciduous trees, often planted along property boundaries to the rear, although there are relatively
few large species present.

The Roden River and Sleap Brook also form important natural elements within the hamlet as physical
boundaries to the north and western extent of the historic settlement. The associated floodplain,
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with its various historical water management systems, is an extensive green open space that
provides a strong green wedge between Wem and Tilley and reinforces their separateness as very
different types of settlement.

Overall Character

Tilley has a strong rural character with two main periods of development visible in the architectural
styles of the settlement. The earliest phase is expressed by the timber-framed black and white
buildings dispersed through the hamlet which have a strong relationship with the main road through
the hamlet as well as with their ‘croft’ enclosures to the sides and rear. A later period of
development is shown by the 18th and 19th century brick buildings, although a number of these
have shown themselves to have a much earlier inner core. Through the retention of large areas of
open greenspace around the hamlet, Tilley retains its overall rural and historic setting as a small,
distinct settlement with visible associations to both the watercourses that bound the hamlet to the
north, as well as former medieval deer park and a Common Field to the west. There has been
relatively limited ‘infill’ development in the 20th and 21st century, the most recent of which has not
particularly respected key elements of Tilley’s character but, so far, the scale of this means that it
has had a relatively low impact on the overall character of the settlement.

3. Sensitivity and Capacity for Change
Conservation Value of the Area

The conservation value of the hamlet of Tilley is strongly related to the way in which it reflects the
relationship of a small settlement with agriculture and the landscape around it. It is sited on low
lying land, and in close proximity to the River Roden and Sleap Brook, and features which make up
aspects of the hamlet’s character show it has adapted and managed its ongoing relationship with
water through the ages, both in terms of a threat and an opportunity.

Although potentially of Saxon origin, the buildings and layout of the settlement can be linked by
physical and documentary evidence to dates from the 14th century onwards. The medieval layout of
the hamlet has largely survived, as have a high proportion of the buildings known to have existed in
1631. Collectively these demonstrate the strong associations between farmsteads and their ‘croft’
enclosures, the use of local materials for building, and the visible display of later medieval and
subsequent alterations and adaptations according to the fashions of the time, or in response to
agricultural change.

Assessment of Condition

The overall condition of the historic buildings in Tilley is generally good. The domestic buildings
appear to be weatherproof with intact roofs and walls, sound windows and doors, and have few
external signs of imminent structural failure. Agricultural buildings remaining either in agricultural
use or currently disused are in fair condition but also appear to be largely weathertight, with some
examples of ‘holding’ repairs, such as the use of corrugated iron sheeting to protect the inner core.

More recent alterations have impacted on the historic character of some of the buildings, although
these have generally been confined to the ‘newer’ brick buildings, two of which have been fully or
partially rendered. The front elevations of all the historic unlisted brick buildings have had their
original timber windows replaced with brown uPVC, many with applied glazing bars, and in some
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cases the layout of the glazed casements has been changed. There are only a limited number of
examples of significant alteration to window and door openings in both timber framed and brick
buildings in the hamlet, but where this has occurred it has had a considerable impact on the overall
appearance of the building and its character.

Generally, re-roofing and repairs have been undertaken in the local traditional red tile, although
there are examples of the use of slate in some of the later brick buildings of the 18th and 19th
century. Where slate has been used as a roofing material on older timber framed properties is has
detracted from the overall cohesion of the conservation area.

Many of the characteristic large block sandstone boundary walls have survived well and seem to be
in reasonable condition, although a large number are hidden by foliage. There are examples of the
introduction of new walling materials or fencing into the streetscape, including at the roadside
boundary of key listed buildings, where it appears that an original boundary has been replaced with
modern brick. Some of the more recent additions to the hamlet have continued the tradition of
boundary walling but have used modern materials, including concrete blocks and metal railings,
which do impact on the overall character and appearance of the area.

For the most part, the planting and maintenance of trees and shrubs in the proximity of historic
buildings and the roadside areas are in-keeping with the overall scale and character of the area,
however there are examples where conifers and leylandii have been planted which is having an
impact on the appearance of the area as well as potentially causing longer term maintenance issues
for buildings.

Opportunities and Threats:

As part of work undertaken in preparation for this Conservation Area Appraisal, local residents
actively engaged in survey of Tilley using a Character Assessment Toolkit designed to help the
community examine the character of areas, buildings and places in the hamlet and the surrounding
area, to identify the features contributing positively and negatively to this character and
distinctiveness, interest and amenity.

Most valued for their contribution to the character of Tilley were the buildings, greenery and
landscape features and spaces. The survey respondents particularly highlighted the ‘specialness’ of
Tilley as an untouched hamlet, noting the strength of its rural character as being reinforced by its
narrow road and the lack of streetlighting and pavements, the importance of green space in forming
a physical separation between Tilley and Wem, and the need to make sure that the special qualities
of the built and natural environment in the hamlet and its environs were protected.

The consultation identified a number of positive and negative issues or features that were already,
or had the potential to, impact on the significance of the Conservation Area. These issues have been
considered in terms of whether they are Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities or Threats to the
long-term management of the Conservation Area to guide the production of a Conservation Area
Management Plan (section 4).

Key Potential Strengths

The settlement has clear links with the past: The buildings and form of Tilley have strong physical
and documentary associations with the surrounding area and its overall historic form has avoided
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significant encroachment from new buildings. This allows the hamlet to continue to be experienced
as a historic settlement, and for its own development to be ‘read’ and understood in its landscape,
historical and social context.

There is a clear peaceful, rural character: The approach to the hamlet from both directions is
defined by hedgerows and a narrowing lane with fields of pasture to either side of the road. Within
the settlement there is a narrow main road, lack of pavements and grass verges which are used to
edge the roadside. The lack of streetlights means that there is little public street furniture and no
light pollution. Together these elements emphasise the historic character of the settlement and help
provide a distinctive boundary between the urban and rural elements of the locality.

Tilley has a close-knit community: The residents of Tilley are proactive in engaging with their area
and have a strong interest in its future management. In addition to putting on well-supported annual
events, the HLF funded Tilley Timber Project was supported by all the residents, many of whom
provided access to their homes, and a high proportion completed their own responses for the Tilley
characterisation toolkit to help develop a better understanding of the significance of the hamlet.

Proximity to local amenities: Despite physical separation from the nearby town of Wem, Tilley’s
location means that the residents are not isolated and facilities are easily accessible, including on
foot, which prevents the hamlet from being isolated or requiring significant infrastructure of its own.

The hamlet is well maintained: The public spaces in Tilley and the verges, which are so characteristic
of the hamlet, are well looked after and the residents collaborate in maintaining the communal
space, including through the provision of seating and planting.

Footpaths and links: Tilley has a network of pathways, which include those used historically to
access the former Common Field, in addition to tracks across the green and wooded open spaces
formed by the undeveloped floodplain. These routes are well-used by locals from the hamlet and
the nearby town and are an important local asset which supports community wellbeing through
physical activity and access to green space, as well as being a draw for visitors from further afield.

Key Potential Weaknesses

Economic viability of businesses: Although flexible working opportunities are well established for
some residents though home offices and businesses, high business rates and the lack of footfall for
businesses requiring direct trade, such as the local public house, have meant that it is difficult for
them to remain viable. The closure of the Raven Inn has had an additional impact on the local
residents in terms of the loss of its community value and as a place to meet.

Traffic management: The hamlet has seen an increase in traffic over the last 10 years and the speed
of vehicles passing through hamlet has become an issue for many residents. In addition, the narrow
main road has an increasing number of cars which park on it and which impact on vehicles passing
through the hamlet as well as on its rural character.

Lack of understanding of the special qualities of the settlement: Whilst local residents clearly value
their surroundings, it is only with recent work that the community has been able to really engage
with identifying and fully appreciating some of the elements and qualities which make Tilley special.
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This has led to some previous work to buildings and boundaries being less than sympathetic to some
of the key characteristics of the area.

Key Potential Threats

Design of new build: Although there are examples of infill development from the 1930s which
largely fit with the overall form of the hamlet, more recent new build developments at the north of
the hamlet have not tended to respect the overall character of the settlement, in terms of the siting
of buildings towards the back of plots and their height, scale and massing.

Loss of original features: Until recent work undertaken by the Tilley Timber Project the significance
of many of the unlisted buildings in the hamlet was unknown. A lack of understanding of the form
and materials used in these buildings, as well as the plot boundaries in which they sit, has
contributed to a number of historic buildings, particularly those externally dating to the 18" and 19"
century, being unsympathetically altered which has impacted on their historic and visual
contribution to the character of the hamlet.

Introduction of new materials: Although the overall suite of materials used in the hamlet has
remained relatively static, there are recent examples of work including fencing, walls, rendering and
re-stoning driveways which have used more modern materials or a different colour palette.
Incrementally and individually these are starting to impact on the character of the area and its
coherence.

Highways, signage and streetlighting: The hamlet has a very rural feel which is heightened by the
lack of signage, lighting and street furniture. Work to remove verges, widen roads or introduce new
paving or signs would have a strong detrimental visual impact on this character. Street lighting is
likely to have a significant impact on the ‘dark skies’ which are a key aspect of the tranquillity of this
part of north Shropshire.

Loss of open space causing Tilley to become joined to Wem: Historically Tilley and Wem have
always been very separate settlements, both in character and appearance and this has been
preserved by areas of green open space which now form a ‘green wedge’ between the two areas.
The incremental or overall development of these areas would have a strong impact on Tilley and
cause it to lose a substantial part of its identity as well as impacting on distinctive aspects of the
historic landscape. This vulnerability was also highlighted in the North Shropshire Landscape
Sensitivity & Capacity Survey review of 2009.

Changes to agriculture: The setting of the hamlet, and its overall preservation, owes a great deal to
its links with agriculture. However, since 1945 a number of factors, ranging from government
policies to developments in machinery and the reduction in dairy herds, have had a significant
impact on the farmed landscape and the occupations of village residents. The historic agricultural
buildings, arable fields and managed pasture, hedges and trees are a key part of the character of the
hamlet and further loss of these assets would strongly impact on the character of the area.
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Key potential opportunities

Develop design guidance for residents and developers based on the key characteristics of the
settlement: The residents of Tilley have shown themselves to be strongly supportive of maintaining
the special character of the hamlet and a simple guide outlining the ways in which alterations or new
development could retain and enhance this significance should help guide future work.

Help with understanding how to maintain historic buildings: Additional guidance, tailored for
owners and residents in Tilley, could support aspects of building and property maintenance which
are currently less well understood, for example, providing practical guidance on ensuring that trees
too close to buildings are well managed, and supporting the maintenance and repair of the
boundary walls, hedging and verge areas to make sure that the most appropriate materials are used,
as well as helping improve their condition.

Reuse of redundant farm buildings: A number of farm buildings within the hamlet are currently
unused but could provide opportunities to allow limited development, through the creation of new
residential or business space within the existing core of the hamlet. With sensitive and careful design, such
work could improve the condition of historic buildings in the settlement, as well avoiding ‘creep’ into the areas
to the rear of properties or outside of the main hamlet.

The Tilley Raven Inn as a community asset: Since the closure of the local public house there is no
public venue or focus for community life within the confines of the hamlet. Tilley’s residents have
shown themselves to be a strong community, working effectively together on significant projects,
and there is potential for the community to have The Tilley Raven Inn designated as an ‘asset of
community value’ and take on the running of the pub, as a long-term opportunity to continue to
develop as a powerful and vocal group with an additional stake in the future of their hamlet.
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4. Conservation Area Management Plan

The Conservation Area Appraisal (set out in Sections 1-2) outlines the historic significance, character
and conservation value of Tilley, including the various aspects — built, natural, historic and
archaeological - which together create a sense of place within the settlement and which combine to
justify Conservation Area designation of the hamlet for its special character and interest. The
appraisal also sets out the current key threats and opportunities that may impact on the area
(Section 3) and affect its conservation value.

Tools for future management of the Conservation Area

The successful long-term management of the Tilley Conservation Area depends on management that
respects its conservation value and helps address known weaknesses and threats to this value. This
Conservation Area Management Plan has been developed as a means of bringing together the
various tools available to ensure that the special character and quality of the Tilley Conservation
Area is retained and enhanced. It aims to help guide future positive management of the
Conservation area, both in terms of planning measures and the strategic planning framework, and
through the identification of a series of Management Principles for the Council and stakeholders to
help guide future work.

A. Principles for Future Management of the Conservation Area

The strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats outlined in Section 3 have been developed
into the following overarching principles to help guide the future management of Tilley in a way
which will protect and enhance the special character of the area.

1. Ensure that future development in the settlement takes account of the characteristic materials,
form, height, scale and massing of the buildings in the hamlet, including the siting of buildings
within historic plot boundaries, and the treatment of the roadside verge and edge.

2. Retain and reinstate Tilley’s characteristic boundaries of grass verges and large sandstone block
walling wherever possible. Protect existing natural and historic boundaries from alteration or
loss by encouraging owners and occupiers to understand their importance and how to maintain
them through maintenance and design guides for Tilley.

3. All major and minor work on historic buildings, whether listed or unlisted, including their repair,
maintenance or restoration, needs to take account their significance. Where possible, original
features and elements that have been lost or degraded by the use of inappropriate materials,
such as roofing or uPVC windows and doors, should be reinstated when being renewed. Help
prevent future inappropriate replacement windows, doors, rendering and roofing materials and
protect original features in unlisted buildings by encouraging owners and occupiers to
understand their importance and how to maintain them through maintenance and design guides
for Tilley.

4. Ensure that highway and public realm developments retain the rural character of the
streetscape and avoid the imposition of street lighting, road markings and signage within the
hamlet.

5. The ‘green wedge’ areas of open space located between Tilley and Wem should be preserved as
a means of delignating and celebrating the distinctive and separate character of the settlements.
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B. Planning Policies for future management of the Conservation Area

In planning terms, Shropshire Council has set out the Polices relating to the proposed Tilley
Conservation Area within the adopted Shropshire Core Strategy (2011) and the Shropshire County
Site Allocations and Management of Development Plan (SAMDev) (2015), These two key documents
are part of Shropshire’s Local Development Framework and the key policies that will guide planning
decisions in the Tilley Conservation Area are outlined below.

The Shropshire Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD)

Shropshire’s DPD was formally adopted in March 2011 and sets out the strategic planning policy for
the County, including a 'spatial' vision and objectives to guide future development and growth in
Shropshire. The Core Strategy’s principal policies of relevance to the management of the Tilley
Conservation Area include:

CS5: Countryside and Greenbelt which states that new development will be strictly controlled in
accordance with national planning policy to protect the countryside and greenbelt. As Tilley is
classified as open countryside, no open market development would be allowable, with the only
exceptions being for specific types of development such as single plot affordable housing, or an
agricultural workers’ dwelling. On appropriate sites the policy specifically considers the conversion
of rural buildings where this would make a positive contribution to the character of the building and
the countryside.

CS6: Sustainable Design and Development Principles which requires high quality and sustainable
development for both existing and new buildings. It states that development should protect, restore,
conserve and enhance the natural, built and historic environment and that it is appropriate in scale,
density, pattern and design taking into account the local context and character, and features which
contribute to local character. It further notes the need for any development to be sensitive to trees
and woodlands as landscape, wildlife and cultural assets; the value of open spaces including for
recreation or to help mitigate climate change; the protection and enhancement of heritage assets
and important buildings, and that particular regard be paid to Conservation Area Appraisals.

CS17: Environmental Networks which states that development must protect and enhance the
diversity, high quality and local character of Shropshire’s natural, built and historic environment,
including by ensuring it contributes to local distinctiveness, having regard to the quality of
Shropshire’s landscape, biodiversity and heritage assets, and avoiding adverse impacts on visual,
ecological, geological, heritage or recreational values, their immediate surroundings or their
connecting corridors. It also notes that all new development should take account of the features
which generate local distinctiveness and make a positive contribution to the environment, and work
to create a multifunctional network of natural and historic resources.

Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev) Plan

The SAMDev Plan sets out proposals for the use of land in Shropshire and sets out policies to guide
future development that will help deliver the Vision and Objectives of the Core Strategy. Within this,
the key policies which relate to Tilley are as follows:

MD13: The Historic Environment which states that Shropshire’s heritage assets will be protected,
conserved, sympathetically enhanced and restored, including through ensuring that proposals avoid
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harm or loss of significance to designated and undesignated asset and their setting, as well as
supporting development which delivers positive improvement or benefits to these assets.

MD2: Sustainable Design which states that development proposals need to contribute to and
respect locally distinctive or valued character and existing amenity value. The policy makes specific
reference to the need to protect, conserve and enhance the historic context and character of
heritage assets, their significance and setting. It also includes making sure that new work considers
the form and layout of existing settlements, the streetscape, scale, density, plot sizes as well as
factors such as locally characteristic design and materials, and the enhancement, recreation and
incorporation of natural assets. It further notes that landscape character, open space, biodiversity,
heritage assets, and buildings need to be considered together and linked to the wider environmental
network from the start of the design process.

Supporting Information

In addition to the Policy framework, in 2009 the North Shropshire Landscape Sensitivity & Capacity
Survey review assessed the capacity of the landscape to accommodate housing or employment
development and to identify those landscapes that should be protected from development. The
study was part of the evidence base which informed the site allocations part of the Local
Development Plan. This identified that the ‘zones’ of green space to the north east of Tilley (Zones
NSWe6 — 25, 197, 198 and 199 within the report) form an important ‘green wedge’ between the
southern and western edges of Wem and the hamlet of Tilley, and are of high to medium landscape
sensitivity, with their greatest significance being in preventing the coalescence of two settlements of
widely differing character.

C: Priority Actions
1. Shropshire Council consults on the Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan.

2. Shropshire Council adds key unlisted buildings and features to the Shropshire Historic
Environment Record to ensure that they are known and understood when looking at new
development and that they are considered as a material consideration in future planning decisions.

3. Following review, Shropshire Council seeks adoption of the Conservation Area Appraisal and
commits to making full use of its planning policies and its strategic planning framework to support
the principles set out in the Management Plan.

4. Seek funding to produce a short design guide for owners, residents and potential developers in
hard copy and electronic formats to enable wide circulation. This should highlight the key
characteristics that need safeguarding through any new work and to encourage positive
enhancements in places where they have previously been altered.

5. Seek funding to produce a short maintenance and best practice guide for owners and residents in
hard copy and electronic formats to enable wide circulation. This should highlight the importance of
taking regular maintenance activities to ensure the continued long life of buildings in Tilley, raise
awareness of the need to undertake repairs in specific materials, and help protect their special
interest. It should also include references to the importance of trees and boundary features in the
area, and highlight situations where Conservation Area status means that work needs to be notified
to the Council.
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6. Appendices

A: The Conservation Area
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B: Supporting Maps and images
1. Excerpt from the 1631 estate map showing the heated, domestic houses in the hamlet. Note the
direction of north which means that the mapping shows the Sleap Brook is shown at the lower right

hand corner.

North
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2. The settlement of Tilley with elements of its historic setting
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,J Tilley, Shropshire

~
'\\ ¢

Managed floodplain and associated water management systems dating from the 17th
century

- Former early medieval Common Field and access track from the hamlet

Possible northern extent of the medieval deer park at Tilley Park, based on field names
from the 1842 Tithe Map and Award
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